
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting. 

Please ask for: 
Alison Marston 

 
18 July 2022 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL to be held on Tuesday 26 July 2022  at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, 
Campus East, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Governance Services Manager 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 May 2022 
(previously circulated). 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence, if any. 
 

3.   PETITIONS  
 

 The Mayor will receive petitions (limited to the first three petitions presented). 
 

4.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

 A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 
Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough. 
 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-

Public Document Pack



disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda. 
 

6.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service. 
 

7.   QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 5 - 6) 
 

 For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough. 
 
The questions received for this meeting are attached.  A Member asking a 
question may ask, without giving notice, one supplementary question of the 
Member to whom the first question was asked.  The supplementary question 
must arise directly out of the reply. 
 

8.   MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET  
 

 To consider a recommendation from the meeting of the Special Cabinet on 25 
July 2022:- 
 

(a)    Local Plan - Inspector's Letter and Proposed Modifications to the Plan 
(Pages 7 - 10) 
 

 Recommendation from the meeting of the Special Cabinet on 25 July 2022 
on the Inspector's Letter and Proposed Modifications to the Plan. 
 

9.   NOTICES OF MOTIONS (Pages 11 - 12) 
 

 To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 16 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct.  The motions received for this meeting are attached. 
 

10.   APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES 2022/23 (Pages 13 - 14) 
 

 To approve the appointment of Committees. 
 

11.   OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 (Pages 
15 - 18) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Legal and Governance) on the Overview and 
Scrutiny Annual Report for 2021/22. 
 

12.   LOCALISM ACT 2011 - APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON (Pages 
19 - 22) 
 

 Report of the Monitoring Officer on the appointment of the Council’s independent 



person to advise on standards matters for councillors. 
 

13.   MEMBERS' ALLOWANCE SCHEME (Pages 23 - 34) 
 

 Report of the Chief Executive on the Members’ Allowance Scheme. 
 

14.   URGENT MATTERS  
 

 To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 5.1(s). 
 

 
Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Corporate Management Team 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Alison 
Marston, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Part I 
Item No: 7 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL MEETING – 26 JULY 2022 
 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 15 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS  
 

Notice of the following questions has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 15:- 

1. Question to the Leader from Councillor Lynn Chesterman 
 

“Following the debacle of £100,000 of taxpayers money being spent on electric 
charging points in the Borough (none of which are accessible to wheelchair users) 
we now have the issue of the disabled parking bays in Stonehills. This was a joint 
venture with HCC but there is a serious issue with the disabled bays. Wheelchair 
users are unable to use them as they cannot transfer from their car to their chair 
as there are no dropped kerbs Would the Leader please agree that this is an issue 
that needs to be rectified soonest?” 

2. Question to the Leader from Councillor Frank Marsh 
 

“I have been made aware that there are an increasing number of occurrences 
where the Council Environmental services department are duplicating 
maintenance and repair work, an example of this is in my own ward when old 
broken fencing was replaced in Digswell Park Road which was a good job done, 
only for it to be removed with additional old fencing six months later.  Now there is 
no fencing, a complete waste of money and resources. 

How and why has this been allowed to happen and is this symptomatic across the 
Borough?” 

3. Question to the Leader from Councillor Margaret Birleson 
 

“As revealed in a recent FOI request submitted to the Housing Ombudsman, 
Welwyn Hatfield has seen more private tenant complaints than anywhere else in 
the east of England over the past five years. 

How many complaints has this Council received from its own housing stock and of 
those what are the main themes?” 

4. Question to the Leader from Councillor Michal Siewniak 
 

“Since becoming a councillor, I have been contacting the Council Officers, pretty 
much on a daily basis. Most of the time, Officers respond quickly, and with relevant 
information, which is great as it enables me, and my fellow Cllrs, to get back to my 
resident with an update and manage their expectations. 

I understand that during the pandemic, many of us had an opportunity to work from 
home. The hybrid model is important as it also gives us an opportunity to strike the 
right work-life balance. However, due to these exceptional circumstances, many of 
our more vulnerable residents have struggled to get hold of Council and at times, 
Council Officers.  

As a Council, I know that we want to "champion" residents' engagement and 
ensure that we always put our community first. It is absolutely critical. With this in 
mind, I would like to ask the following question. What is the Council tangibly doing 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 

to ensure an excellent access to our services, on and off-site? I also wonder 
whether the 'service level agreement' for responding to councillor's and residents 
queries, has been implemented?” 

5. Question to the Leader from Councillor Max Holloway 
 

“There has been an increase in complaints about antisocial behaviour caused by 
speeding cars, scooters, and motorbikes in residential streets and outside schools. 

This is an accident waiting to happen, causing nuisance to residents and great 
concern among parents and carers who are understandably concerned about the 
welfare of both their own children but also those potentially involved in this 
behaviour.  

Would the Leader confirm what direct interaction this Council has had with relevant 
authorities to tackle this nuisance behaviour, to keep our residents safe on the road 
and pavements?” 

6. Question to the Leader from Councillor Russ Platt 
 

“As councillors, I am sure that we have all received comments or complaints about 
overgrown hedges, hedge maintenance, unkempt hedges, hedges encroaching 
onto footpaths or lack of clearing up after hedge maintenance. 

I understand that where hedges are on public land and footpaths, maintenance 
was contracted from county to Welhat. Can the council confirm what the approach 
is regarding hedge maintenance? Is it still the case that they are responsibility of 
Welhat BC and if so, what is the schedule that should be kept to for maintenance 
and cutting, and is this being achieved?” 

 
7. Question to the Leader from Councillor Kieran Thorpe 
 

“Can the Leader of the Council confirm how much money the Council has spent 
on the Local Plan Process since 2010?” 

8. Question to the Leader from Councillor Lucy Musk 
 

“In recent weeks I have been contacted by some residents who for their mental 
and physical health and based on recommendations from their own GPs need to 
be moved. Does the portfolio holder for Health and Housing agree with me that the 
current policy of a medical assessment is and I quote ‘a desktop exercise’ good 
enough?” 

 

Page 6



Part I 
Item No:  
For Decision 

 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 26 JULY 2022 

 
Recommendation from the Special Cabinet on 25 July 2022:- 
 
 

20.1 Local Plan - Inspector's Letter and Proposed Modifications to the Plan 
(Forward Plan Reference FP1126) 
 
Report of the Assistant Director (Planning) on the Inspector’s Letter and 
Proposed Modifications to the Local Plan. Members received a 
presentation which set out the Council’s January 2022 Strategy and the 
Inspector’s response; the housing requirement, housing supply, the 
recommendation from Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel and the risks.  
 
In January 2022, Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel considered options 
to meet the Full Objective Assessment for Housing Need (FOAHN) of 
15,200. The panel proposed that the Council’s strategy agreed in 
November 2020 be put forward for consideration by Cabinet and Council.  
 
The strategy had identified a supply of sites for 13,277 dwellings to meet 
what the Council considered should be the FOAHN OF 13,800. 
 
There were also changes to windfall allowance, updated completions and 
commitments and amendments to the strategy as a consequence of 
decisions made by the inspector, this resulted in a distribution of 13,279 
dwellings.    
 
This had been presented to Council at a special meeting on 27 January 
2022.  
 
The Council wrote a letter to the inspector setting out the strategy and 
noting that the availability and size of sites resulted in most of the 
development being delivered in the first ten years post adoption.  
 
The Inspector responded to the Council’s letter and had advised that the 
Local Plan requirement of 15,200 was still appropriate.  He had advised an 
approach based on identifying sites for the year period following adoption 
could be sound with a commitment to a review, to be undertaken in the 
context of housing need and national policy. 
 
The Inspector had now found HS24 in Little Heath and SDS6 in 
Symondshyde unsound.  HS29 and HS30 in Cuffley were also not found 
sound. A fifth site, HS22 has previously been found sound and the 
Inspector confined that the site was still sound.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 8a



 
The inspector advised the Council that the plan can only move forward if 
the Council identified sufficient sites for the first ten years post adoption 
and carried out consultation on an agreed set of main modifications. The 
inspector also required sound evidence to demonstrate that the plan can 
deliver five years’ worth of housing against the plan’s housing requirement.  
 
The Inspector had concluded that the housing requirement for the plan 
period 2016-36 was 15,200 dwellings with an average 760 dwellings per 
annum.  A 20% buffer had to be provided to reflect under delivery resulting 
in a 10 year target of 7,938. 
 
Completions during the plan period to 31 March 2022 equated to 2,731 
dwellings, resulting in a residual requirement for 12,469 dwellings for the 
plan period, an average of 891 dwellings per annum. 
 
The Inspector stated that the five years needed to start from April 2023 
rather than 2022.  Therefore it was necessary to estimate the number of 
completions for 2022/23 and this resulted an increase in the shortfall from 
1,829 to 1,976 dwellings. 
 
It was noted that at the Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel meeting on 21 
July 2022 members had rejected both recommendations in the report.  
Members agreed to recommend the proposed sites agreed at Special 
Council on 27 January 2022 and their updated dwelling numbers 
specifically as shown in table 3 of the report and Appendix A Table 1 of the 
report giving a total updated capacity of 12,775 with 8,517 in the first ten 
years. 
 
It was noted that the plan had not increased the five year land supply or 
made full provision for the shortfall.  The inspector had already rejected the 
13,277 and 13,279 strategies and there was a strong likelihood that the 
plan will be found unsound. 
 
Cabinet Members thanked officers for their continued hard work on the 
Council’s Local Plan. 
 
Members acknowledged the full debate at CPPP which informed the 
recommendations made, and agreed that it was for elected Councillors and 
their communities to take planning decisions which were in the best interest 
of the residents, businesses and communities of the borough. 
 
Members stated that there were risks involved in whichever decision the 
Council took with regards to the Local Plan. It was noted that members 
were not anti-development in the borough.  
 
Members noted it was down to local politicians to make a decision on what 
is best for the borough. 
 

Page 8



It was noted that it was a good decision that the numbers at the Wheat 
Quarter site had been reduced by about 600 and that it was also protecting 
its heritage in Welwyn Garden City. Members acknowledged that the 
Green Belt must be protected given the benefits it brings to the borough 
and the community. 
 

RESOLVED: 
(unanimous) 
 
Cabinet recommended to Full Council the proposed sites agreed 
and recommended by the Special Council on 27 January 2022 and 
their updated dwelling numbers specifically as shown in table 3 of 
the report and Appendix A Table 1 of the report giving a total 
updated capacity of 12,775 with 8,517 in the first ten years. 
 

 

The reports of the Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel meeting can be viewed in full 
here: 
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=266&MId=1498&Ver=4 

 

Page 9

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=266&MId=1498&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Item No: 9 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 26 JULY 2022 
 
NOTICE OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 16 
 
To consider the following notice of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 16:- 

 
1. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Lucy Musk and will 

be seconded by Councillor Larry Crofton:- 

This council notes that Tuesday 14th June marked the 5th anniversary of the 
Grenfell disaster. 

The Grenfell Tower Public Inquiry recommended that the owner and manager of 
every high-rise residential building be required by law to prepare Personal 
Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEPs) for all disabled residents. However, last 
month the Government rejected this recommendation and revealed downgraded 
plans, which have been largely criticised by Grenfell campaigners, disability rights 
campaigners and the Fire Brigade Union. 

Within Welwyn Hatfield we have seen critical failures in housing safety. 

This council resolves, that due to the number of multi storey/ high rise 
developments being proposed in this borough, that the leader 

1. Writes to Lord Greenhalgh, Minister of State for Building Safety, Fire and 
Communities urging for a reversal of the government’s rejection of 
PEEPs 

2. Looks at resolving national failure locally by enshrining PEEPs for the 
borough.  

2. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Max Holloway and 
will be seconded by Councillor Kieran Thorpe:- 

Welwyn Hatfield Council notes that we’re living through a Cost of Living crisis not 
seen for a generation. 

Residents are seeing increases in their rents, Council Tax, food prices and fuel 
prices. 

Inflation in the UK is rising and the Bank of England expects inflation to hit 11% 
this year. 

Welwyn Hatfield Council notes that Energy prices increased on average by 54% 
in April of this year, and are predicted to rise substantially again in October. 

This Council is concerned about the October energy price increase and the impact 
this will have on our residents’ ability to keep manage their finances this winter 
and keep their households warm.  

The Council calls on the Government to act now to reduce energy prices and 
resolves to write to the newly appointed Chancellor expressing these views and 
demanding action for our residents. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



 

3. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Gemma Moore and 
will be seconded by Councillor Michal Siewniak:- 

This council notes with concern a number of planning applications that, if granted, 
will have a detrimental impact on the heritage of Welwyn Hatfield. 

This council believes that protection of the cultural heritage of all Welwyn Hatfield 
conservation areas is critical to passing on a worthwhile legacy to future 
generations. 

This council therefore reaffirms its commitment to the protection of our cultural 
heritage, through support for conservation areas, and will resist robustly any 
planning applications it believes will be detrimental to such areas and the wider 
heritage in which those areas sit.  

In particular this council is concerned about the number and scale of applications 
which impact conservation areas, including 5G mast applications, and asks 
officers to deal with them robustly. 

Page 12



Note 

(C)  Denotes Chair 
(VC)  Denotes Vice Chair 

NON-EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES 2022/23 
 
(Note: Proposed new appointments are shown in green and with an asterisk *) 

 
Constitution Review Group 
 

Constitution: 7 Members 
Ratio 4:2:1 
 

Conservative Liberal Democrats Labour 

T Kingsbury C P Zukowskyj K Thorpe  * 

N Pace VC R Platt  

J Boulton   

R Lass   
 

Appeal Committee 
 

Constitution: 5 Members (plus 2 Independent members) 
Ratio 3:1:1  
 

Conservative Liberal Democrats  Labour 

T Mitchinson C J Quinton Max Holloway  * 

G Michaelides   

D Richardson   
 
 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Alison Marston 
Executive Member: Cllr Nick Pace 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 26 JULY 2022 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE)  

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22  

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 In accordance with Part 3a of the Constitution, the Council will receive an Annual 
Report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to its work. This 
report illustrates the work of the Committee and its Task and Finish Panels during 
the 2021/22 Municipal Year.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Council note the Annual Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
2021/22. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 Following agreement by Council on 6 May 2020 to introduce revised scrutiny 
arrangements, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 13 Members, politically 
proportionate, with a Chairperson (Administration Member) and a Vice 
Chairperson (Opposition Members), is appointed annually. The Committee may 
mobilise time limited task and finish panels as and when required. These 
arrangements replaced three scrutiny committees, operating prior to May 2020.  

3.2 Part 4g, section 4.0, of the Constitution sets out the powers of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  

3.3 This report reports on the effective discharge of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Function by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2021/22. 

4 Membership and Work Programme 2021/22 

4.1 The Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2021/22 was 
Councillors Fitzsimon (Chairperson), Quenet (Vice-chairperson), Chesterman 
(Vice-chairperson), Elam, Hayes, Hellyer, Kasumu, Marsh, Michaelides, Smith, 
Stanbury, Travell and Trigg.  

4.2 An Annual Work Programme was agreed at the start of the municipal year in liaison 
with Members and relevant Officers. The work programme was then reviewed at 
each meeting of the Committee, which met four times during the municipal year: 5 
July 2021, 1 November 2021, 6 January 2022 and 14 March 2022.  

4.3 Committee Work Programme – The business considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee included: 

a) Community Safety Partnership Review: The scheduling of the work 
programme enabled the Committee to review the work of the 
partnership twice during the municipal year. The July meeting focussed 
on engaging with the community; and the March meeting focussed on 
the successes of 2021 and priorities for 2022.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 11



- 2 - 

b) Affordable Housing: The Committee considered the Council’s objective 
to maintain the Council’s stock of 9,000 affordable housing within the 
Borough, recommending to Cabinet that the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Business Plan and associated Strategic Plan be reviewed in 
order to understand the financial capacity to increase the Council’s 
current housing stock and directly deliver more affordable homes, whilst 
also continuing to invest appropriately in the existing housing stock. 

c) Anti-social behaviour, noise nuisance and pest control: Members noted 
the complexity of dealing with individual incidents reported to officers in 
terms of; the overlapping legislation and powers that may be applicable 
to a particular case; the number of internal teams who may need to be 
involved; and the involvement of external partners who had a role to 
play, not least in resolving particular underlying issues. 

d) Annual Budget Setting: the Committee received the report of the task 
and finish panel it had established.   

e) Public Health Update: The Committee considered a report on the work 
undertaken by the Council in partnership with colleagues in the wider 
health system to protect and improve health and wellbeing, with a 
particular emphasis on plans for living with Covid-19. 
 

4.4 Task and Finish Panels: Two Task and Finish Panels operated during the year, 
and reported their findings to the January meeting of the Committee: 

a) Housing Maintenance and Repairs Task and Finish Panel: The Panel met 
on three occasions during the municipal year 2021/22 (having been first 
established in the previous year) and considered a summary of how the 
service should run and what residents should expect from it. This was 
followed by a series of questions and answers, which led to a 
recommendation to Cabinet regarding a revision of the Council’s Window 
Repairs and Replacement Policy. 

b) Budget Setting Task and Finish Panel: The Panel met on four occasions 
between October 2021 and January 2022 as part of the budget setting 
process. The Panel found the budget proposals to be financially sound, 
however, there remained cause for concern when looking ahead over the 
next few years. There remained ongoing uncertainty over the impact of 
the Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit. 

4.5 Cabinet Response to Recommendations: Three recommendations were made 
by the Committee to Cabinet: 

a) At its meeting on 4 January 2022, Cabinet agreed the recommendation 
from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the current Housing 
Revenue Account Business Plan and associated Strategic Plan be 
reviewed, to understand the financial capacity to increase the Council’s 
current housing stock and directly deliver more affordable homes, whilst 
also continuing to invest appropriately in the existing housing stock; and 
that the review take place in good time to allow any revision to policy and 
plans to be incorporated into the 2023-24 budget. 

b) At its meeting on 18 January 2022, Cabinet noted that the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee had, upon considering the report of the task and 
finish panel, found the budget proposals to be financially sound.  

c) At its meeting on 1 February 2022, Cabinet agreed the proposed 
amendments to the Window Repairs and Replacement Policy 
recommended by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 16



- 3 - 

5 Work programme 2022/23 

5.1 Prioritisation is necessary to ensure that the scrutiny function concentrates on 
delivering work that is of genuine value and relevance to the work of the wider 
authority. 

5.2 Members of the Committee can, during the course of the year, add items within 
the remit of the Committee that they wished to be considered, and discussed.  

5.3 Once the membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2022/23 has 
been appointed at Annual Council in May, Officers will liaise with the Chairperson 
and Vice-Chairperson of the Committee to organise a work-programming 
workshop for Committee Members prior to the first formal meeting of the 
Committee. In addition to standing or cyclical items of business, the workshop will 
consider the following topics recommended by the 21/22 OSC panel: 

a) Review of waste and recycling contract performance 

b) Example comparative case reviews of anti-social behaviour, noise 
nuisance and pest control (Part II) 

c) Design of organisational values and behaviours that are expected of our 
staff and members 
 

Implications 

6 Legal Implications 

6.1 The requirement for local authorities in England to establish Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011. The Council itself cannot undertake the 
Overview and Scrutiny function and must establish a committee to do so.  

7 Financial Implications 

7.1 There are no financial implications. Officer support for the Overview and Scrutiny 
function is met from existing resources.  

8 Human Resources Implications 

8.1 Officer support for the Overview and Scrutiny function is met from existing 
resources.  

9 Health and Wellbeing Implications 

9.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee discharges the function of Health Scrutiny.  

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority  
of a well-run council which puts our customers first, and specifically to the 
achievement of delivering modern, efficient and transparent services for everyone.   

Name of author Alison Marston 
Title Governance Services Manager 
Date July 2022 
 
Background papers 

Report to Council, 17 March 2021 Review of Operation of Scrutiny Arrangements 
(minute ref.109) 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Margaret Martinus 
Executive Member: Councillor Tony 

Kingsbury 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 26 JULY 2022 
REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 

 
LOCALISM ACT 2011 – APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON 
 
1 Executive Summary 

The purpose of this report is to seek the Council’s agreement to appoint a Council’s 
independent person to advise on standards matters for councillors. 

 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 It is RECOMMENDED that Council agree the appointment of Mr Ian Jobson as a 
Council independent person for a further term of 5 years, commencing on the date 
after this meeting. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 THE INDEPENDENT PERSON 

3.2 The role of the independent person under the Standards arrangements is twofold.  
Firstly, the views of the independent person must be sought and taken into account 
by the Authority before it makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to 
investigate.   

3.3 Secondly, the views of the independent person may be sought by the Authority 
generally or by the Member who is the subject of the allegation.   

3.4 The Council last agreed the appointment of its independent person on 10 July 
2017. The independent person is appointed for a five-year term, hence the need 
to make a new appointment by the 10 July 2022. 

3.5 The qualifications for an independent person are that the person must not be:  

 A member, co-opted member or officer of the Authority (or a Parish Council 
of which this Council is the principal authority) 

 A relative or close friend of any of the above 

 A member, co-opted member or officer of the Authority (or the Parish 
Council of which the Authority is the principal authority) within five years of 
their prospective appointment.  

3.6 Any appointment must be preceded by a public advertisement, an application and 
approval by a majority of the Authority’s Members.   

3.7 The Standards Committee on 15th June 2022, received an update on the above 
process. It noted the requirements for the need for new appointments of 
independent persons and the advertisement and selection process for the 
recruitment had taken place. 

3.8 It is confirmed that these vacancies were publicly advertised extensively in social 
media and the council’s website for a period of approximately 2 months. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 12



- 2 - 

Applications were invited and submitted by applicants by a closing date. These 
applications were assessed by an officer panel consisting of the Chief Executive, 
Monitoring Officer and Governance Services Manager. 

3.9 Following interviews of the shortlisted applicants by the officer panel, that took 
place on 20th May 2022, the panel is recommending to Council, the re-appointment 
of Mr Ian Jobson, a current council independent person. 

3.10 Mr Jobson was previously appointed as an independent person by this council on 
10th July 2017 and he has served as a council’s independent person since then. 

3.11 Mr Jobson also serves as an independent person for St Albans City and District 
Council. 

3.12 Mr Jobson is a recently retired civil servant who lives in Welwyn Garden City. He 
has worked at a high level in strategic customer services and operated within the 
complaints process that followed the civil service model. Mr Jobson has a detailed 
understanding of public service and large complex organisations. Having worked 
with ministers, he is also aware of the political sensitivities that attach to a political 
arena. Mr Jobson is keen to continue to serve the local community and uphold 
local democracy. 

3.13 In the past five years at Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, Mr Jobson has 
demonstrated the ability to be objective, independent and impartial in his role. He 
has complied fully with the confidentiality requirements demanded by this process. 
He has also developed expertise in this area. 

3.14 On the basis of the merits of his application and his past performance in the role, 
the officer panel do not hesitate in recommending Mr Jobson’s re-appointment as 
a council independent person for a further five-year term. 

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) requires local authorities to have 
arrangements in place for the appointment of at least one independent person 
under the standards regime. The legal requirements are set out in paragraphs 3.2 
to 3.6 above. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 Council on 16th March 2022 agreed the introduction of an annual sum of £500 per 
independent member appointed under the Act. This applies from the financial year 
2022/23. Previously, no allowance was paid. 

5.2 In addition to this, the council has always paid reasonable travel expenses incurred 
necessarily through performance of the role. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

6.2 Legal- the council is required by the Act to have these appointments in place under 
the standards regime. Making an appointment, in accordance with the statutory 
process, abrogates the risk of non-compliance. 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 None directly applicable. 

Page 20



- 3 - 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None directly applicable. 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 None directly applicable. 

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

10.1 None directly applicable. 

11 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

11.1 The appointment, if approved, will be published on the council’s website. 

12 Link to Corporate Priorities 

12.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority  
‘A well run council which puts our customer first’ and specifically to the 
achievement of ‘reviewing our services to ensure we are efficient, accountable and 
accessible to our communities’ and is linked to a statutory requirement, under the 
Localism Act 2011. 

13 Equality and Diversity 

 

13.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 
 

 
Name of author M Martinus 01707 357 575 
Title Assistant Director (Legal and Governance) 
Date 23 May 2022 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable)  

Not applicable 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

 

Part I 
Item No:  
Main author: Alison Marston 
For Resolution 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 26 JULY 2022  
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCE SCHEME 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report considers the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel (IRP) following the review of the Members’ Allowances during 2021. This 
follows the Council’s request in January 2020 for Officers and the IRP to carry out 
a comprehensive review of the Members’ Allowance Scheme for the financial year 
2021/22 and subsequent years. 

1.2 The minutes and recommendations of the IRP meeting on 3 December 2021 are 
set out as background papers to this report (Appendix A). An informal consultation 
with Members, through their group leaders, took place in early 2022 to review the 
recommendations. 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 That Council agrees the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel 
and approves the proposed level of Members’ Basic and Special Responsibility 
Allowances (SRAs) as set out in Appendix B, payable with effect from 1 July 2021. 

2.2 That the Council agree that an annual index linked adjustment to be made in line 
with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) (capped at 4% per annum) and applied with 
effect from 1 June in 2022, 2023 and 2024. 

2.3 Note that the proposed Member Allowance Scheme would end in May 2025, with a 
new four-year scheme required to be developed by Officers and the IRP in 2024/25 
and take effect from 1 June 2025. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 Following a successful recruitment campaign for additional independent persons to 
join the IRP in the summer of 2020, the new Panel was convened on 29 September 
2020. Officers, under the direction of the Panel, undertook a number of desk top 
research projects as part of a review of the Member Allowance Scheme. This 
included a survey of Members in early 2021. The results of that research and 
Members’ survey have informed the IRP’s recommendations. 

3.2 A review of allowance schemes across the country failed to produce an example or 
model which the council could use as a basis for setting its own allowance scheme. 
Officers therefore sought to build a new framework which reflected the council’s 
locality and priorities. The IRP used the model at their meeting on 3 December 2021 
to determine their recommendations for the Members’ Allowance Scheme for 
2021/22. Their deliberations can be seen in Appendix A. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 13



- 2 - 

3.3 Despite research, Officers could not identify why the Standards Committee 
Chairman SRA attracted a lower amount in comparison to the Chairman SRAs of 
other Committees. The IRP therefore agree to bring the Standards Committee 
Chairman SRA in line with the other Committee Chairman SRAs. However, the IRP 
noted that the Standards Committee Chairman SRA was not currently claimed, as 
that role was fulfilled by the Leader of the Council. 

3.4 For Group Leaders it was agreed that their SRA should reflect their responsibility 
within the Council and the number of Members they were responsible for. The IRP 
recognised the responsibility of the Deputy Leader of the Council and determined 
that they too should receive an SRA which reflected the responsibility of their role 
and the size of the group they are responsible for. However, the IRP decided that 
the Deputy Leader of the Council should receive a smaller compensation, in 
comparison to the Leader of the Council, for the number of members they were 
responsible for.  

3.5 The IRP also noted the Members’ strong support for an index linked annual 
adjustment to allow the scheme to continue for a period lasting no longer than four 
years, in line with legislation.  

3.6 Historically, the panel has proposed indices in line with the nationally agreed local 
government pay award, which included freezes in times of austerity. (The council 
has assumed a 2.5% increase for 2022/23 for the staff pay award, and subsequent 
year in the medium term financial strategy, although this is yet to be negotiated 
nationally).  

3.7 The panel has this year recommended CPI as they felt the pay award was subject 
to political pressures and was not very well known by the public. They recognised 
CPI may be volatile and proposed a cap at 4% in any one year. The October 2021 
CPI was 4.2%. 

3.8 Again, despite research, officers could not identify why new Members’ Allowance 
Schemes commenced on the 1 July of each year. It is therefore proposed that future 
Members’ Allowance Schemes should commence on 1 June of each year, soon 
after the meeting of the Annual Council. 

Implications 

4 Legal Implications 

4.1 Each council must set members’ allowances in accordance with the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. Before an authority makes or amends a 
scheme, it has a legal duty to have regard to the recommendations made by its IRP. 

4.2 The IRP must form at least 3 members, none of whom is a councillor of the authority 
nor would be so disqualified from being a councillor. The current IRP consists of 5 
members who meet these criteria. 

4.3 The council must ensure that any IRP recommendations and agreed members’ 
allowance schemes are duly publicised in accordance with the statutory 
requirements. The new scheme, if agreed, will be publicised on the council’s website 
and in one local newspaper. 

Page 24



- 3 - 

4.4 The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, Part 3, 
Regulation 10, sets out the requirements for members’ allowance schemes, 
including the ability for councils to have regard to an index for the purpose of annual 
adjustments of allowances. However, council cannot rely on this annual adjustment 
for longer than a period of four years before seeking further recommendations from 
the IRP. 

5 Financial Implications 

5.1 It is proposed that the level of basic allowance and special responsibility allowances 
(SRAs) are increased and decreased in line with the IRP recommendations.    

5.2 As in previous years, some members hold more than one office: the scheme 
provides that they only receive the highest of the allowances due. 

5.3 The budget for 2021/22 was £373,000. The budget for 2022/23 is £382,800. The 
proposed allowances for 2021/22 would equate to £386,000. The proposed 
allowances for 2022/23 would equate to £407,862.09. Should members wish to 
maintain allowances within existing budgets, this would equate to a reduction in 
proposed allowances of around 3.4% for 2021/22 and 5.6% for 2022/23. 

5.4 The panel has recommended an annual index linked adjustment to be made in line 
with the Consumer Price Index (capped at 4% per annum) and applied from 1 June 
in 2022, 2023 and 2024. If members agree to adopt CPI as the inflationary indices, 
CPI indices would be taken from the October preceding the year of the uplift, to 
ensure this is captured adequately for budget setting purposes.  

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 Failure to agree the recommendations may cause the Council to have an allowance 
scheme which was not fit for purpose. This would likely impact the effectiveness of 
the Council body and may reduce the pool of Councillors available within the 
borough. 

6.2 Any increase in an allowance may be viewed negatively. However, the value of the 
proposed Basic Member Allowance is in keeping with equivalent allowances across 
Hertfordshire and represents a fraction of a percent of the Council’s overall 
expenditure. Proposed decreases to specific Special Responsibility Allowances 
may also be viewed as negatively if it was interpreted as a reduction in the status of 
a particular role. 

7 Procurement Implication(s) 

7.1 None. 

8 Climate Change Implication(s) 

8.1 None. 

9 Human Resources Implication(s) 

9.1 None. 

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

10.1 None. 

Page 25



- 4 - 

11 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

11.1 Any new scheme will require publication in accordance with the legal requirements.  

12 Link to Corporate Priorities 

12.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority “A well-run 
council which puts our customers first”, and specifically to promoting equality and 
fairness and supporting our councillors so that they may better work for, and 
represent, local communities. 

13 Equality and Diversity 

13.1 An Equality Impact Asessment (EqIA) was not completed because this report does 
not propose changes to existing service-related policies or the development of new 
service-related policies. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

1. Minutes of the IRP meeting held on 3 December 2019 (Appendix A) 
2. Proposed new Members’ Allowances Scheme and Care Allowances to commence 

from 2021/22 (Appendix B) 

 
 
Ka Ng 
Chief Executive 
July 2022 

Page 26



- 1 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
3 December 2021 
 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL* held on 
Friday 3 December 2021. 
 
* Reporting to Council 
 
PRESENT: R Atterton 

K Cole 
P Legood 
P.Raynsford 
D.Tabraham-Palmer 

 

OFFICIALS Head of Law and Administration (M.Martinus)  
PRESENT: Principal Governance Officer (J.Anthony) 
 Information Governance and Member Support Officer (K.Houston) 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

1. PROPOSED BASIC ALLOWANCE 2021/22 – 2024/25 
 

 

The Panel noted the Council’s request in January 2020 that officers undertook 
a full review of the Member Allowance Scheme. The Panel also noted Member’s 
strong support, as expressed in the Member Survey conducted in January 2021, 
for a four-year scheme to be adopted, with annual adjustments applied using 
an agreed index. 

The Panel noted that research undertook by officers did not uncover any model 
which were deemed appropriate for Welwyn Hatfield to base its scheme on. The 
Panel therefore decided to propose its own model, using its own analysis but 
taking into account the preferences shared by Members through the survey. 

The first step was to identify a building block on which all allowances could be 
based on. The Panel therefore decided to use an appropriate hourly rate as a 
starting point. However, given that the Member Allowance scheme is not a 
salary but an allowance to assist Members with expenses they incur whilst they 
undertake this voluntary role, any hourly rate chosen would need to be 
discounted. 

The Panel recognised that they would not be able to design an allowance 
scheme which fairly reflected each individual councillors’ commitments and 
efforts and would need to take a broad brush approach when making 
assumptions, such as on hours worked per week on constituency duties and 
technical skill and ability required for different positions. 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



- 2 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
3 December 2021 

The Panel discussed the following variables, and options, making the following 
considerations for the proposed Member Allowance Scheme. 

 

Hourly rate 

 

The Panel considered a number of hourly rates, including: 

 the statutory national living wage for those 23 and over (£8.81) 

 the minimum hourly rate recommended by the Living Wage Foundation 
(£9.90) 

 hourly rate for Local Government pay (£9.25 - £24.28) 

 the average Welwyn Hatfield hourly rate (based on ONS figures), 
(£20.06) 

 the average Herefordshire hourly rate (based on ONS figures), (£18.19) 

 

The Panel concluded that the allowance scheme should reflect the financial 
circumstances and living costs associated with the borough and its community.  

 

CONSIDERATION 1 

To use the calculated Welwyn Hatfield hourly rate (£20.06 per hour) as the 
building block for the Member Allowance model. 

 

Average hourly workload 

 

The Panel recognised that no two councillors would undertake the same level 
of workload in any given week. However, in order to set a basic allowance, it 
was important to reflect the average working week for a councillor.  Following 
the Member Survey the Panel calculated that councillors spent on average ten 
hours a week on direct Council business (ward business, community work, 
preparing and attending meetings and representing the council at external 
events), with two and a half additional hours spent on non-specific council 
activities (such as wider preparation, training, development and travelling) and 
a further two hours spent on party and group business. 

The Panel determined that all activities, except the party/group business should 
be considered when calculating the average hourly workload of councillors. 

 

CONSIDERATION 2 

That the average hourly workload of a councillor should be assumed to be 12.5 
hours a week. 

 

 

Page 28



Classification: Unrestricted 

- 3 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
3 December 2021 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

Working year 

 

Again, the Panel recognised that whilst different councillors would undertake 
their duties at different times of the year, it was important to assume an average 
working year in order to set the basic allowance. The Panel acknowledged that 
whilst public meetings were usually held in school term time, many councillors 
would undertake their duties throughout the year, including attending non-public 
meetings with constituents, community groups and officers. However, the Panel 
wanted to ensure the councillors took appropriate breaks and did not want to 
encourage year-round working. 

 

CONSIDERATION 3 

That the average working year should be assumed to be 46 weeks (52 weeks 
minus 6 weeks to reflect statutory holiday for workers). 

 

Discount 

 

The Panel was keen to ensure the allowance was not seen as a wage, and that 
the voluntary aspect of the councillor role was reflected in the calculations made 
for the basic allowance.  The example of Guildford Council was noted, where a 
discount rate of 35% was applied to Councillor allowances to reflect the 
voluntary nature of a Councillor’s role. The Panel determined that the discount 
should be for greater than half. 

 

CONSIDERATION 4 

That the allowance rate applied should be discounted by 51%. 

 

RESOLVED 

 

The IRP recommends an annual Basic Allowance of £5,651.72 for each 
Member. 

 

Index 

 

The Panel considered the following index options: 

 

 Retail Price Index 

 Consumer Price Index 

Page 29



- 4 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
3 December 2021 

 Consumer Price Index + Housing Cost 

 National Joint Council Paypoint 1 

 National Joint Council Paypoint 2 

 Housing Price Index 

 Percentage change to Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Annual Gross 
Expenditure 

 Regular Pay Growth 

 Percentage change to average East of England income 

 

The Panel noted the responses to the Member Survey which showed strong 
support for applying an index adjustment to Member Allowances for a four-year 
period. The Panel also noted the strong preference for using the national staff 
pay award as the index, which follows the example of pervious years which had 
adjusted the Members Allowance rates in line with the national staff pay awards. 
However, the national staff pay awards was subject to political pressures and 
was not very well known by the public. The second preference expressed in the 
Member Survey was the Consumer Price Index (CPI).  The Panel determined 
that this would be a preferable option given its independence from political 
influence and was easily recognisable and understood by the public. 

 

However, the Panel recognised the forecast for CPI in the next few years was 
unpredictable and there was a risk it could rise significantly. The Panel therefore 
advised that an upper limit by put on any increase to Member Allowances, with 
an upper limit of 4% suggested. 

 

RESOLVED 

 

The IRP recommended that the Member Allowance be adjusted on an 
annual basis in line with the Consumer Price Index, capped at 4% in any 
one year. 

 

2. PROPOSED SPEACIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE (SRA) 2021/22 – 
2024/25 

 

The Panel noted the results of the Member Survey, in particular that Members 
believed the current allowance system to be broadly fair. The only additional 
special responsibility allowance proposed by a number of Members was for Vice 
Chairs if they were required to take on the duty of the Chair. However, research 
showed that this only happened occasionally and would add a high level of 
complexity to the allowance scheme. The IRP therefore chose not to pursue this 
particular suggestion. 

 

Page 30



Classification: Unrestricted 

- 5 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
3 December 2021 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

The IRP discussion subsequently focused on the level of each SRA. Members 
had been asked, as part of the survey, to rank the key considerations for setting 
Special Responsibility Allowances. It was noted that the top three 
considerations to be (in order of importance): 

1. Strategic importance to the Council 
2. Technical knowledge and expertise 
3. Frequency and length of meeting 

 
This was reflected in Member comments which highlighted the increased 
workload of the Leader and Cabinet Members, and the level of technical 
expertise required to Chair the Development Management Committee. 
 
It was proposed that, with the exception the Group Leaders and the Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor, SRAs should fall into one of three categories: Strategic, 
Technical and Standard. Using 10% of the basic allowance as a building block, 
the IRP determined the SRA for each of three categories by multiplying the 
base amount by different factors, as shown below: 
 
CONSIDERATION A 
 

SRA Category  Multiplier Amount 

Strategic 18 £10,173.10 

Technical 10 £5,651.72 

Standard 7 £3,956.20 

 
Following discussions, it was agreed that Cabinet Members should be 
categorised as being Strategic, the Chair of the Development Management 
Committee should be categorised as being Technical, and all other Chairs 
should be categorised as being Standard. 
 
CONSIDERATION B 
 
For Group Leaders it was agreed that their SRA should reflect the role they 
played and the number of Members they were responsible for. Its was 
determined that the Leader of the Council should be categorised as Strategic 
to reflect the role they played at the Council; and the Group Leaders for the 
opposition should be categorised as Standard when there is majority control of 
the Council, and Technical when there is no overall control, to reflect the 
additional responsibility they incur when there is no overall control. The IRP 
recognised the responsibility of the Deputy Leader of the Council and 
determined that they too should receive an SRA which reflected the Strategic 
nature of the role and the size of the group they are responsible for. However, 
this later point should not be to the same extent as the Leader of the Council 
and a figure of 20% of the group size was deemed to be sufficient. 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



- 6 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
3 December 2021 

CONSIDERATION C 
 
The work of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor was recognised. Whilst the roles were 
not viewed as Strategic, they played a vital role in connecting the Council to the 
community. The work of the Deputy Mayor was identified by Members in the 
survey of needing to be reviewed given the increased expectation and workload 
on the Deputy Mayor over the last few years. A figure of 50% of the Mayor’s 
Allowance was deemed to be sufficient 

 
RESOLVED 

The IRP recommended that the SRAs should be set as follows: 

 

Position SRA 

Leader of the Council £15,711.78 

Deputy Leader £11,280.84 

Cabinet Member £10,173.10 

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committees £3,956.20 

Chairman of Cabinet Panel £3,956.20 

Chairman of Audit Committee £3,956.20 

Chairman of Licensing Committee £3,956.20 

Chairman of Standards Committee £3,956.20 

Chair of Development Management 
Committee 

£5,651.72 

Leaders of First Opposition Groups £6,132.12 

Leader of Second Opposition Groups £5,736.50 

Mayor £6,782.07 

Deputy Mayor £3,391.03 
 
 
3. PROPOSED TRAVEL AND CARE ALLOWANCES 2021/22 – 2024/25 
 

In line with Members’ responses to the survey, no changes were proposed to 
the travel and care allowances currently in place. 
 
Meeting ended 11.05am 

     JA 

Page 32



- 1 – 
 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCE SCHEME PROPOSAL 
 

 

 

Per Annum (£) 

2020/21 

 

 

Proposed Per 
Annum (£) 

2021/22 

Proposed Per 
Annum (£) 2022/23 

(assuming CPI Index of 
4% used)   

Basic Allowance 5,294 5,651.72 5,877.79 

    

Leader of the Council 15,880 15,711.78 15,723.08 

Deputy Leader 11,114 11,280.84 11,608.63 

Cabinet Member 10,141 10,173.10 10,580.02 

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 4,715 3,956.20 4,114.45 

Chair of Cabinet Panel 4,071 3,956.20 4,114.45 

Chair of Audit Committee 4,071 3,956.20 4,114.45 

Chair of Licensing Committee 4,071 3,956.20 4,114.45 

Chair of Standards Committee 2,137 3,956.20 4,114.45 

Chair of Development Management Committee 5,294 5,651.72 5,877.79 

Leader of First Opposition Group 6,101 6,132.12 6,488.17 

Leader of Second Opposition Group 5,876 5,736.50 6,092.55 

Mayor 6,578 6,782.07 7,053.35 

Deputy Mayor 1,645 3,391.03 3,526.67 

    

Care Allowance (Childcare) – up to a maximum of £8.21 per hour £8.21 per hour £8.21 per hour 

Care Allowance (Dependent Care) – up to a 
maximum of 

£12.40 per 
hour 

£12.40 per 
hour 

£12.40 per hour 

 
  

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	8a Local Plan - Inspector's Letter and Proposed Modifications to the Plan
	9 NOTICES OF MOTIONS
	10 APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES 2022/23
	11 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22
	12 LOCALISM ACT 2011 - APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON
	13 MEMBERS' ALLOWANCE SCHEME
	13 - IRP Report - Appendix A IRP Minutes 20211203
	13 - IRP Report - Appendix B Proposed changes to Members' Allowance Scheme July 2022


